Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75



Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Behavioural Brain Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbr

Contributions of the basal ganglia and functionally related brain structures to motor learning

Julien Doyon^{a,b,i,j,*}, Pierre Bellec^{c,j}, Rhonda Amsel^d, Virginia Penhune^e, Oury Monchi^{a,f,j}, Julie Carrier^{a,b,g}, Stéphane Lehéricy^{h,j}, Habib Benali^{a,i,j}

^a Functional NeuroImaging Unit, University of Montreal Geriatric Institute, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

^c McConnell Brain Imaging Center, Montreal Neurological Institute, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

^d Department of Psychology, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

^e Department of Psychology, Concordia University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

^f Department of Radiology, University of Montreal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

^g Centre d'étude du sommeil et des rythmes biologiques, Hôpital du Sacré-Cœur de Montréal, Montréal, Québec, Canada

h Center for Neuroimaging Research - CENIR, Hospital Pitié-Salpêtrière, University Pierre and Marie Curie, Paris 6, France

ⁱ Inserm, UMR_S 678, Laboratoire d'Imagerie Fonctionnelle, F-75634, Paris, France

^j Laboratoire International de Neuroimagerie et Modélisation (LINeM), France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 9 September 2008 Received in revised form 7 November 2008 Accepted 10 November 2008 Available online 17 November 2008

Keywords: Basal ganglia Motor skill Motor adaptation Motor sequence learning Cerebellum Consolidation

ABSTRACT

This review discusses the cerebral plasticity, and the role of the cortico-striatal system in particular, observed as one is learning or planning to execute a newly learned motor behavior up to when the skill is consolidated or has become highly automatized. A special emphasis is given to imaging work describing the neural substrate mediating motor sequence learning and motor adaptation paradigms. These results are then put into a plausible neurobiological model of motor skill learning, which proposes an integrated view of the brain plasticity mediating this form of memory at different stages of the acquisition process.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

BEHAVIOURAL

BRAIN RESEARCH

Contents

1.	Introduction	61
2.	Motor sequence learning	62
3.	Intra-system brain plasticity associated with motor learning	64
4.	Planning motor sequences	65
5.	Motor adaptation	66
6.	Motor memory consolidation	67
7.	Automatization of motor skills	69
8.	Motor skill learning: A model	71
	Acknowledgements	73
	References	73

* Corresponding author at: Functional NeuroImaging Unit, University of Montreal Geriatric Institute, University of Montreal, 4565 Queen-Mary Road, Montreal, Quebec H3W 1W5, Canada. Tel.: +1 514 340 3540/3284; fax: +1 514 340 3530. *E-mail address*: julien.doyon@umontreal.ca (J. Doyon).

0166-4328/\$ – see front matter s 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2008.11.012

1. Introduction

Our capacity to plan, learn and retain new motor skills is essential for going through daily activities. Indeed, such ability is regularly elicited when, for example, one executes smooth eye-body

^b Department of Psychology, University of Montreal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

coordinated actions like hitting a golf ball with a club, or when one produces multi-joint movements while reaching and grasping small objects in space. Accordingly, a great deal of research in this field has been devoted to better understand the behavioral determinants and the neural substrates that mediate this type of procedural memory. Motor learning has been experimentally studied using tasks designed to measure the incremental acquisition of sequential movements into a well-articulated behavior (motor sequence learning [MSL]), or to tests our capacity to compensate for environmental changes (motor adaptation [MA]). MSL paradigms typically require subjects to produce a sequence of movements that they either know explicitly before training (e.g., [22,24,29,56,57,83,103,114]), learn implicitly through repeated practice (e.g., [3,22,40,88,93]), discover by trial and error [53–55,89,106], or acquire through probabilistic rules [68,82]. Motor responses in those sequence learning tasks involve either finger-to-thumb opposition movements (e.g., [56,57,95]), finger presses on response boxes (e.g., [24,39]), movements of the whole arm (e.g., [22,40]) oculomotor sequential movements [3,4], or varying the isometric force applied to a pressure plate to follow a repeating waveform pattern [33,34,40]. By contrast, MA paradigms necessitate that participants adapt to changes in visual rotations (i.e., kinematic MA measure) [51,52,108] or to perturbations applied by a velocity-dependent field that pushes the hand perpendicular to its direction of motion (dynamic MA measure) (e.g., [62,96,97,99,101], see [108] and [98] for reviews). Operationally, the acquisition of such motor abilities is generally measured by a reduction in reaction time and number of errors, and/or by a change in movement synergy and kinematics (see [19,25,61,98] for reviews). Furthermore, these changes in performance are known to be incremental, implicit in nature, long lasting and dependent upon "on-line" and "off-line" triggered plastic changes in the brain.

Psychophysical studies have demonstrated that the incremental acquisition of motor skills follows several phases: First, an early, fast learning stage in which considerable improvement in performance can be seen within a single training session; and second, a later, slow stage in which further gains can be observed across several sessions of practice (e.g., [57]). Interestingly, an intermediate phase corresponding to the consolidation process of the motor routine has also been proposed, based on the demonstration that a motor memory trace can be disrupted by the administration of a competing task within a time window of 6-8 h, or when spontaneous performance gains are reported following a latent post-training period of more than 6 h without additional practice on the task. Once consolidated, the motor memory trace is believed to be resistant to interference [5], and to become readily retrievable despite long periods of time without additional training. Finally, motor skilled behaviors are regarded as fully automatized when actions are carried out effortlessly with little attentional resources needed for their successful completion.

Over the years, work ranging from electrophysiological and lesion experiments in animals to clinical population-based and imaging studies in humans has undoubtedly demonstrated that the basal ganglia, and the striatum in particular, play a critical role in the planning, learning, and execution of a new motor skill. The basal ganglia are composed of a series of subcortical nuclei that are organized into sensorimotor, associative and limbic territories based upon their anatomical connectivity and functions. The caudate nucleus, putamen and subthalamic nucleus constitute the input nuclei as they receive major afferent connections from the cerebral cortex, midbrain and thalamus, whereas the internal segment of the globus pallidus and the substantia nigra, pars reticulata form the output nuclei that send back treated information to frontal cortical areas via thalamic nuclei [1,15]. Ample evidence indicates that the processing of motor information flows through a topographically organized and segregated loop linking motor-related cortical

regions like the primary (M1), supplementary (SMA), premotor (PMC) and cingulate (CMA) motor areas with the sensorimotor divisions of the basal ganglia and thalamus [77]. Finally, a distinction between the anterior associative putamen region and the more posteroventral sensorimotor area of the putamen and globus pallidus has also been observed in humans based on diffusion imaging data [66], hence forming the anatomical basis for the functional dissociations seen between these putamen areas during the early learning and planning phase preceding the execution of learned motor sequences, for example [8,21,30,65].

Yet, the cortico-basal ganglia circuits do not constitute the only anatomical system implicated in the acquisition and planning of skilled actions. The cerebellum and its motor-associated structures, like the somatosensory motor cortex and ventral PMC forming the cortico-cerebellar loop through the dentate nucleus and ventralposterior lateral nucleus of the thalamus [59], have also been shown to contribute to motor learning. Dynamic brain plasticity within the striatum and cerebellum, as well as functional interactions between these two cortico-subcortical systems has been reported depending on the stage of the learning process, nature (i.e., new versus learned motor behavior) of the action being planned and the type of skill being acquired (MSL, MA). Furthermore, consistent with recent electrophysiological studies in primates [13], findings from functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies conducted at 3.0 T (e.g., [91]) and proper correlation analyses of the BOLD changes occurring during the very early stage of the learning process [4] suggest that the hippocampus contributes also to the encoding and consolidation of motor skills.

In this review, we will thus describe the brain plasticity, i.e., the reorganization over time of brain circuits, involved in motor skill learning. We will focus on the dynamic changes that are observed within the cortico-striatal system as one is learning or planning to execute a newly learned motor behavior up to when the skill is consolidated or has become highly automatized. Imaging work from Doyon's laboratory and from other research groups will be described. A special emphasis will be put on MSL paradigms, although results from imaging studies using MA tasks will also be reported to highlight the role that the cortico-striatal system plays in this other type of motor learning. Using standard contrast and correlation statistical analyses, as well as functional connectivity approaches, we will also discuss the functional interplay that exists between the cortico-striatal, cortico-cerebellar and limbic systems in this form of learning. Finally, these imaging results will be put into a plausible neurobiological model of motor skill learning [21,23,25], which proposes an integrated view of the brain plasticity mediating this form of procedural memory at different stages of the acquisition process. Due to space limitations, however, this review does not describe the work on the acquisition of arbitrary visuomotor conditional associations, normal motor prehension, object use, imitation and apraxia (see [38] for a review of the relevant literature on these related issues).

2. Motor sequence learning

From the beginning, the field of motor learning has been dominated by studies that looked only at the neural plasticity that occur in the fast learning stage where improvements in performance are most dramatic. Indeed, since early 1990s, a plethora of neuroimaging studies using positron emission tomography (PET) and fMRI have investigated the brain plasticity mediating performance changes seen during early encoding of a new motor skilled behavior. These studies have demonstrated that the striatum plays a critical role in encoding motor programs (e.g., [22,39,53,54,86,92,95]). The striatum, in concert with motor cortical regions, is activated during implicit sequence learning [22,39,86,87], when subjects are practicing a motor sequence for which they have complete explicit knowledge [39,83,92,95], as well as during tasks [39,92,95,106] in which subjects need to utilize problem-solving strategies to find the repeating sequence of finger movements [53,55,106]. Evidence in support of the role of the basal ganglia in motor skill learning also comes from impairments found in patients with striatal dysfunction (e.g., in Parkinson's or Huntington's disease), who generally show a deficit in acquiring new motor sequences (see [20] for a more detailed discussion of the conditions under which Parkinson's disease patients have shown an impairment in MSL). In most studies referenced above, however, the cerebellum has also revealed simultaneous increased learning-dependent activity, suggesting that not only the cortico-striatal, but the cortico-cerebellar system contributes to the acquisition of motor sequences. On the few occasions in which cerebellar activations were not reported [39,41,86], this was usually due to the limited field of view of the PET cameras, which precluded full visualization of this structure [19,109]. Finally, results from early imaging studies have also revealed the gross dynamic functional interactions that occur between the striatum and cerebellum as subjects are practicing the motor skill until they reach asymptotic performance in the first training session. Indeed, while experience-dependent cerebellar activations have regularly been observed at the beginning of the acquisition process (e.g., [22,53]), several research groups using appropriate active control conditions (see [25] for a more detailed discussion of the methodological factors that can affect patterns of imaging results), have shown that this activity decreases with practice to the point of becoming undetectable when the sequential movements are well learned [24,35,42,54,94]. By contrast, investigators have reported that the striatum remains activated even when subjects have reached asymptotic performance during that session and beyond this early learning phase (e.g., [22,42,54]). Together, the latter findings suggest that the striatum and its associated motor cortical areas are critical for the long-term retention of well-learned sequences of movements.

In recent years, there has been growing interest in uncovering the learning processes that span over longer time frames, as there is evidence that changes in performance can occur over multiple sessions encompassing days, weeks or even months of practice [15,16]. Using fMRI techniques, researchers have also been able to better characterize the motor functions associated with the corticostriatal and cortico-cerebellar systems, as well as the brain plasticity that takes place between and within each loop (e.g., [24,29,103,106] see [20,21,23,48] for reviews). For example, evidence supporting the fact that a functional interaction between the two corticosubcortical systems can persist in the slow learning stage comes from an fMRI study carried out by Doyon and Ungerleider [25]. In this experiment, subjects were scanned during motor sequence learning using a version of the serial reaction time task, in which they were required to press as quickly as possible one of four buttons corresponding to the location of a red circle that appeared on a screen. The stimuli were either presented in an unpredictable order (random condition) or followed a repeating 10-item sequence of movements that was taught explicitly to each subject prior to scanning (explicit learning condition). Subjects were scanned over three separate sessions with intervening periods of practice of the 10item sequence administered just prior to the second and third scan sessions. As a group, the subjects showed consistent improvement in executing the sequence of finger movements across scanning sessions, and attained the slow learning phase as their level of performance became stable in Session 3. Analysis of the functional imaging data in the early phase of learning revealed activations in the cerebellum, as well as in the right anterior cingulate, dorsal PMC and inferior parietal regions. At the end of Session 3, however, these cerebellar and cortical regions showed significant reductions in activity, while right hemispheric activations were observed in the striatum, as well as in the SMA, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, precuneus, and inferior parietal area, hence suggesting that the striatum and related motor cortical regions, but not the cerebellum, are sufficient to express and retain learned sequential behaviors.

Lehéricy et al. [65] have also investigated the neurofunctional changes observed during the entire learning process of a motor sequence: from encoding to automatization of the skill. Fourteen right-handed volunteers were scanned with a high field (3T) magnet as they were required to practice an explicitly known finger sequence of eight moves using the left hand. On Day 1, MRI scanning was carried out on three occasions to follow the dynamic cerebral changes seen during the early learning phase. Subjects were scanned again on Day 14 as well as after a month of daily practice to identify the brain structures involved during the slow and automatization phases of MSL. Automatization in the subject's performance was measured using a dual-task paradigm (i.e., reading aloud a simple text while performing the sequence task) administered before the last fMRI session. As expected, and similarly to previous pioneering fMRI work in this field by Karni et al. [56,57], the subjects' performance greatly improved with practice, reached a very stable plateau at the end of the 4-week training period, and was subject to minimal interference from the secondary task. Over the entire course of the training, learning-dependent, blood oxygenated level dependent (BOLD) signal changes revealed a significant increase in the sensorimotor region of the putamen, as well as in the pre-SMA, SMA proper, premotor and superior parietal cortices. Interestingly, this increase of activity persisted after 4 weeks of practice, and was then accompanied by a general decrease of activity in several areas within the cerebellum, including lobules V, VI, and Crus I as well as in the dentate nucleus, again confirming the distinct role of the cortico-basal ganglia loop in the retention of well-trained motor sequences. Such findings are consistent with work from Floyer-Lea and Matthews [34] who investigated both the early and late (after 3 weeks of practice) phases of MSL through the use of a sequence task demanding variable isometric force applied to a pressure plate. Early learning was associated with a decrease of activity in several cortical regions (i.e., the dorsolateral prefrontal, anterior cingulate, posterior parietal, and primary motor cortices) and the cerebellar cortex. By contrast, late learning after much improvement and some automaticity in subjects' performance elicited significant activity in the somatosensory and motor cortices as well as in the putamen.

MSL brain plasticity changes across an identical time course (1 month) of learning has been investigated by Duff et al. [29]. Similar to Lehéricy et al. [65], healthy participants were trained on an explicitly known sequence of finger movements and were scanned on three occasions; before training and after 2 and 4 weeks of daily practice. Importantly however, contrary to a conventional voxel-wise, peak-detection analysis based on simple contrasts, brain-behavior correlations or conjunctions between experimental conditions (see [19] for a discussion), Duff et al. used an innovative statistical approach designed to appreciate the full complexity of the BOLD response known to vary greatly, especially when tasks are performed over long (>30 s) periods of time in a block design. The latter approach is based on observations made by Harms and Melcher [46] who have reported that under those conditions, the BOLD signal reveals complex features: (a) brief spikes of activity at the beginning and at the end of the task, (b) changes in sustained and ramping activities during task performance, and (c) signal undershoots after completion of a block of trials. Consequently, to get a more reliable assessment of the cerebral plasticity associated with motor learning, Duff et al. [29] have conducted a systematic characterization of the BOLD response shape dynamics over the whole brain. Based on the OSORU (onset, sustained, offset, ramp and undershoot features of the BOLD signal) model proposed by Harms and Melcher [46], their analyses revealed that motor learning alters certain characteristics of the response shape, suggesting that these features reflect different aspects of neurovascular dynamics. Among their many findings, the authors reported significant increases of the 'sustained' component in both thalamus and putamen bilaterally after 2 weeks of training, with significant concomitant decreases of the 'onset' component in several cerebral regions including the cerebellum. These results are important because they demonstrate that such transient dynamics may be a widespread phenomenon within the cortico-striatal and corticocerebellar systems, and thus that one needs to better quantify the spatio-temporal dynamics of BOLD signal responses that occur at different stages of the sequence learning process.

In addition to the established functional inter-relationship found between the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar systems during MSL, recent work has shown that the limbic system is also implicated in this form of procedural memory. Schendan et al. [91] have demonstrated, through an fMRI experiment at 3.0 T, that the hippocampus was significantly activated during MSL measured with the serial reaction time task, irrespective of whether sequential knowledge was acquired implicitly or explicitly. The latter findings suggest that, in addition to the motor-related subcortico-cortical systems, the hippocampus contributes to the acquisition of sequential movements regardless of the subject's awareness. These results are consistent with animal [73] and human [84] work providing evidence that these different functional networks can interact together during declarative and procedural learning. It should be noted, however, that the limbic involvement might not be necessary for maintaining the newly learned skilled behavior over time, as contrary to lesion studies in clinical populations with striatal or cerebellar dysfunctions (e.g., Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease; Primary forms of dystonia), amnesic patients with damage to the limbic system like H.M. can typically acquire habits and motor skills normally [75,98].

Finally, the studies described above have allowed us to gain valuable insights into the extent of the dynamic cerebral interactions occurring between the striatum, cerebellum, motor cortical areas and hippocampus during motor skill learning. Yet their interpretations at the network level remain limited. Indeed, none of them explores the possible functional or effective connectivity between activated regions at a large-scale neural level. A very small number of studies pertaining to the field of motor learning have been conducted using such a global approach (see [14,103,107]). Furthermore, among those few, Tamas et al. [103] are (to our knowledge) the only ones who have carried out a whole-brain connectivity analysis on MSL data. These authors have used a model-free approach based on a novel variant of the independent component analysis (ICA) technique to investigate the dynamic interactions occurring between brain activated regions. Young healthy participants were scanned in a single session while practicing a visually cued and explicitly known sequence of finger movements, or while performing a control condition in which the finger movements were randomized. The analyses yielded two task-related components; the first revealed decreased activity in a fronto-parieto-cerebellar network, whereas the second showed increased activity in a network including the posterior parietal and PMC regions, but not the striatum. The lack of correlated activity involving the striatum is surprising, but may be explained by the fact that the subjects were only tested in their very early learning phase with a small number (total = 30) of repetitions of the sequence, and thus that they had not reached asymptotic performance at the end of training. Nevertheless, although slightly differing with results from previous imaging studies, the work from Tamas et al. [103] is key, as it shows that multivariate data analysis techniques such as ICA are useful tools to identify neural networks associated MSL. Yet in this study, the authors focused on the early learning phase only, and consequently much more work using functional connectivity analyses is needed

in order to characterize the dynamic changes in spatially distributed patterns of coherent activity at the whole-brain level that are most probably occurring during the different learning stages.

3. Intra-system brain plasticity associated with motor learning

In addition to the brain plasticity that occurs at the systems level, accumulating data from work in animals and humans indicate that dynamic changes in motor representations during motor learning also take place within the cortico-striatal system and cerebellum (e.g., see [21,43,48] for reviews). For example, in Lehéricy et al.'s study [65] described above, a gradual shift of increased activity within the putamen was observed as subjects were practicing the finger sequence task in the first training session. Very early, learning related BOLD activity over the three scans on Day 1 revealed significant activity in the associative/premotor territories of the basal ganglia, including the dorsal parts of the putamen and rostral striatal areas, the anterodorsal globus pallidus, the corresponding output nuclei of the thalamus and the subthalamic nucleus. After 10 min of practice, however, improved performance on the task was associated with a decreased of activity in the rostrodorsal (associative) regions of the putamen, followed by significant activations in the posteroventral regions of the putamen that then persisted even after a month of daily practice (see Fig. 1). Our results [65] reveal that the associative region of the putamen is mainly active at the beginning of finger sequence learning, but that a gradual, "shift" of activation toward the sensorimotor area can be observed once subjects have reached asymptotic performance within the first training session, hence suggesting that newly acquired motor sequences are represented in the latter territory of the basal ganglia. These findings are consistent with other imaging studies that have reported activations in the rostral portions of the striatum during early MSL (e.g., [54]), and more posterior activations when the motor sequence is well practiced (e.g., [6,24,41]). They are also in accord with a large number of experiments in primates where reversible pharmacological blockage of the associative region of the putamen using muscimol (a GABA agonist) produced an impairment in learning new sequences, whereas a similar blockade of the sensorimotor region led to a deficit in the execution of well-learned motor sequences [76] (see [48] for a review). Finally, Lehéricy et al.'s study [65] confirms and extends to humans Hikosaka's model of MSL. They support the notion of a double representation of newly learned motor sequences: the anterior (associative) region of the putamen (in link with parietal and prefrontal cortical regions) being critical for building a "spatial representation" of the sequence, and the posterior (sensorimotor) area of the putamen (related to motor cortical regions) playing a major role in creating a "motor representation" of the sequence [48].

A functional transfer of activity from the cerebellar cortex to the dentate nucleus (one of the cerebellar output nuclei), most probably reflecting a switch in representations during motor learning, has also been reported. For example, when Doyon et al., [24] scanned healthy participants on three separate sessions while they were practicing an explicitly known sequence of finger movements until their performance reached a plateau in the slow learning phase (see above for more details), BOLD signal changes educed a very interesting pattern of results within the cerebellum (see Fig. 2). Early learning during Session 1 was correlated with increased BOLD activity in the cerebellar cortex ipsilateral to the hand used in the task. With more practice, however, activity in the cortex decreased from Session 1 to Session 2, but increased in the dentate nucleus during that same training period. Such findings suggest that the cerebellar cortex is recruited early in sequence learning, but that its contribution then declines as proficiency at performing the task improves. By contrast, this gain in performance was associated

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75



Fig. 1. Activation patterns within the basal ganglia during motor sequence learning [65]. (A, top) Activation maps obtained in the putamen superimposed on a coronal T1-weighted image. There was a progressive activation decrease in the dorsal part of the putamen (arrows) and an increase in a more ventrolateral area (arrowheads) bilaterally, which persisted after 4 weeks of training. (A, lower) Percentage signal increase SEM averaged across all subjects for each run of the trained sequence confirmed the activation decrease in the dorsal putamen and increase in the ventral putamen (RM-ANOVA). (B, left) Activation maps obtained in the cerebellum during the T-sequence (T1 on day 1 and T5 on day 28). Activation in the lateral cerebellar hemispheres, the left DN, and the pons decreased training. (B, right) Percentage signal increase SEM averaged to pre-training values. All activation maps are corrected for cluster extent at *P* 0.05 (height threshold *P* 0.0001).

with recruitment of the dentate nucleus, suggesting a transfer of plasticity in the neural representation of the motor sequence from the cerebellar cortex to the deep cerebellar nuclei. Importantly, such a pattern of findings has also been seen when young subjects are learning to track a continuously changing force target using a pressure sensor [33], or adapting to a force field in a target-reaching task [81]. Taken together with the results from the basal ganglia described above, these findings thus suggest that functional and physiological changes during the fast learning phase of a motor skill also occur at the intra-system level, that this plasticity is necessary to build the motor routines that will then be consolidated over time, and that this type of intra-system plasticity is not restricted to MSL, as it has been seen in studies using MA paradigms as well.

4. Planning motor sequences

Before executing sequential behaviors that are part of our repertoire of motor skills, one regularly needs to plan individual movement elements into a properly timed and spatially ordered sequence. Such a faculty is crucial, as it allows us to "anticipate events, select movements, specify their ordering and better control actions online" [30]. Although not studied as well as the learning process itself, recent experimental work has given us some clues regarding the brain structures that could be involved in this premovement phase. Indeed, such an important question has previously been studied using the go, no-go and instructional delay tasks (see [38] for review). More relevant to our line of reasoning in this literature review, however, two recent imaging studies using single event fMRI designs and analyses have investigated the neural substrates involved in planning motor sequences [8,30], see also [37,78,79]. Importantly, their results demonstrate that planningrelated brain activity is not only present in motor cortical regions like the SMA (and pre-SMA in particular) and CMA [9-11], but in the basal ganglia as well. First, Elsinger et al. compared BOLD signals both before and while subjects executed finger sequences with the right hand that differed in terms of the level of complexity (simple, complex) and the nature of the motor command (internally generated [IG], externally guided [EG]). In the simple sequence condition, subjects were asked to perform five consecutive key presses with only one of the three fingers used for this task (e.g., 11111), whereas in the complex sequence condition, they were required to produce heterogeneous sequences implicating all three fingers (e.g., 12131). In the IG condition, subjects were first exposed to information about the sequence (e.g., 23231) that they needed to produce after being given a cue in the "Movement Response" phase of the trial, while in the EG condition, they were given no such information (e.g., XXXXX) before being asked to produce one of the sequences (e.g., 13121) during the same "Movement Response" phase. Direct

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75



Fig. 2. Activation patterns within the cerebellum during motor sequence learning [24]. Merged fMRI–MRI horizontal sections through the cerebellum illustrating the results of the multiple regression analysis for the learning-random regressor averaged over the nine subjects. The results are shown as *z* score maps and reveal both increases (orange) and decreases (blue) in BOLD signal over the three scanning sessions, and are displayed overlaid on a coplanar, high-resolution MRI scan of a single subject. In the horizontal sections, the *z* coordinate represents the position of the section relative to the anterior-posterior commissure line. The subject's right cerebellar hemisphere is on the left. (a) Significant increases and decreases of activation in both the cerebellar cortex (lobule V and crus 1) and deep nuclei across sessions. (b) Results of the subtraction analysis comparing the *z* score maps obtained in Session 2 versus Session 1, and in Session 3 versus Session 2.

comparison of the premovement and movement periods revealed BOLD activity in the SMA/CMA, lateral PMC and anterior putamen that was greater in the premovement IG than in the movement IG condition, hence suggesting that the cortico-striatal system contributes to internal planning of sequential actions before they are put into operation. Second, using a similar approach, Boecker et al. [8] investigated the brain circuitry involved prior to producing either self-initiated or externally driven sequences of movements. Contrary to Elsinger et al. [30], however, subjects were required to execute a unique, well automatized four-finger motor sequence. Again, when the planning phase of the IG condition was compared to that of the EG condition, increased activity was found in a distributed network of motor-related structures including the SMA, CMA, parietal regions, midbrain nuclei (red nucleus and subthalamic nucleus), as well as the anterior putamen contralateral to the hand used. Together, the results of these studies highlight the fact that the basal ganglia and its related brain structures do not only play a major role in the cognitive processes mediating the encoding and maintenance of motor sequences over time, but that they are also implicated right before sequential behaviors are implemented in real life.

5. Motor adaptation

A large body of evidence indicates that the neuronal substrate primarily responsible for the encoding, consolidation and long-term storage of adapted movements comprises the cerebellum and related structures [14,16,44,101] see [19,21,23,25,61,98] for reviews). Support to this statement comes from clinical population studies, which have demonstrated that while patients with Parkinson's or Huntington's disease show intact performance on paradigms designed to measure MA like mirror figure tracing or prism adaptation [2,36,63,64], those with damage to the cerebellum are impaired on these types of tasks [71,90,105], see [104] for review). Nevertheless, Smith and Shadmehr [101] have conducted a more refined analysis of the type of errors that patients with basal ganglia dysfunction do during the targetreaching force-field task. They have demonstrated that damage to this system produces a disturbance in error feedback control. This was reflected by a poor compensation of the motor command in the early part of the reaching movement [100], but not by a deficit in adapting to novel arm dynamics errors from trial to trial [101].

Consistent with such findings, results from imaging studies have shown that the striatum also contributes in some way to the motor commands necessary to achieve the required motion. Interestingly, however, functional interactions between the two subcortico-cortical systems while performing this type of MA task have revealed a pattern of findings opposite to the one described above with MSL. In a series of PET studies, Shadmehr and Holcomb [96,97] have found that the capacity of subjects to adapt to a perturbing force field when reaching randomly presented targets with a robotic arm was first associated with increased activity in the left putamen and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex bilaterally. Later in the fast learning phase of the first training session when subjects failed to show further gains in performance, however, decreased activity in the putamen was seen, while increases in activation were observed in the cortico-cerebellar system. This transient increase of activity in the striatum during MA has been corroborated by Krebs et al. [62], who have used a similar force-field task with PET. In the latter study, early (fast) learning was associated with activations in the ventral striatum, as well as in the contralateral primary sensory cortex and bilateral parietal association areas. By contrast, when the skill was well learned and the subjects produced smooth reaching movements, there was a shift of activity from the striatum and parietal areas to the left motor and PMC regions, as well as the right cerebellar cortex.

A similar pattern of results has been found in one of our recent study, in which both standard peak-detection and data-driven functional connectivity analyses [7,70] were used to investigate the dynamic functional changes associated with acquisition of a kinematic MA ability. Eleven subjects were scanned while performing a target-reaching task, in which they were required to use a joystick to move a cursor from the center of a screen to one of eight targets following an elliptical trajectory within a time limit (3000 ms). In the "inversed mode" condition, the relation between movements with the joystick and direction of the cursor was inverted on each trial, while they were spatially compatible in the "direct mode" (control) condition. Subjects were scanned during five runs on two consecutive days, and additional periods of practice were administered between scanning sessions in order to ensure that subjects reached asymptotic performance on Day 2 (see Fig. 3). BOLD signals were recorded using a standard single-shot echoplanar imaging sequence (TR = 3500 ms, TE = 40 ms, 64 × 64 matrix, 42 slices) on a 3.0T system, as well as a combined block and eventrelated design. As expected, comparison of the inversed and direct modes over the two days yielded a stable activation in lobules



Fig. 3. Behavioral results obtained in the MA task. Performance was assessed through three different measures: Percentage of completed trials, global performance index (GPI) that is taking both precision and time in consideration, and standard deviation of the GPI. Compared to the their performance during training in the first fMRI session, subjects showed a plateau in their performance in the second scanning session after two additional practice sessions.

V-VI of the left cerebellar cortex, an increase of activity in the cingulate and primary motor regions, as well as a decrease of activity in the parietal cortex bilaterally. Furthermore, greater activity in the sensorimotor region of the putamen and globus pallidus, pre-SMA and parietal cortex were observed on Day 1 compared to Day 2, whereas greater activity in the cerebellum and medial prestriate cortex were seen on Day 2 compared to Day 1. More interestingly, however, functional connectivity analyses revealed that the brain acquires this motor skill through interesting spatiotemporal dynamics. Experience-dependent plasticity during MA was first characterized by a transient overall increase in the number of inter-regional connectivity within a large-scale network of cerebral structures involving the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar systems (see Fig. 4A). When subjects completed the fast learning phase on Day 1, however, the amplitude and number of functionally connected regions with the cortico-cerebellar system increased, and the striatum was now functionally linked with other motor cortical regions (see Fig. 4B). This was followed on Day 2 by a gradual decrease in connectivity between the striatum, cerebellum and motor-related structures, as well as the retention of functional links that were restricted to the cerebellum and related cortical structures via the thalamus (see Fig. 4C and D). Altogether, these findings suggest that interactions between the cortico-cerebellar and cortico-striatal systems are necessary at the beginning of the acquisition of a new motor skill, that this interaction is mediated through an increase in the magnitude and number of functionally connected regions within these two systems, and that the corticocerebellar system is sufficient to maintain this skilled behavior once the task is well learned (see [14] for a PET study describing very similar findings).

6. Motor memory consolidation

Data accumulated so far clearly demonstrate that motor sequence learning depends initially on repeated practice, but that it also continues to develop over time after training has ended. During this latent post-learning phase, the memory of a given motor experience is thought to be transformed into a robust and enduring state, a process called "memory consolidation" [58,110]. Motor memory consolidation possibly begins as early as after subjects have done a few practice trials, and thus after the brain has been exposed to sufficient relevant behavioral experience. Yet experimentally, this memory process has been defined as the intermediate process between the early (fast) and late (slow) learning phases, where the emergence of delayed, off-line, gains in performance or a diminished susceptibility to interference by a subsequent experience is observed in the post-training phase.

We and other investigators have demonstrated that sleep plays a critical role in the consolidation of memory traces for motor sequences [20,68,110]. For example, Walker et al. [111] have shown that delayed gains in performance on a motor sequence task are triggered after a period of sleep, but not following an equivalent period of daytime. Hotermans et al. [49] have reported that this process occurs very early after an initial training phase, as a transient increase (boost) in performance emerging as early as 5-30 min after practicing a motor sequence task has been shown in young volunteers. Importantly, this early 'boost' was predictive of the behavioral gains observed 48 h post-training, indicative of its functional significance in motor memory consolidation. Further studies [31,60] have demonstrated that this sleep-enhancing effect is independent of whether subjects slept during the night or during daytime, thus ruling out the alternative interpretation that motor consolidation on this task relates to circadian rhythm effects. Finally, other researchers have also shown that certain sleep parameters, especially Stage 2 sleep spindles, are involved in offline consolidation of sequential finger movements [80,112].

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75



Fig. 4. Diagrams illustrating the results of functional connectivity analyses of the MA task. (A) Results demonstrating the functional connections within the cortical and subcortical structures of the cortico-cerebellar and cortico-striatal systems at the beginning of the learning process. (B) At the end of the first day of testing, when subjects have completed the fast learning phase, the amplitude and number of functionally connected regions with the cortico-cerebellar system are now significantly increased. Furthermore, as predicted by Doyon and Ungerleider's model of motor learning [21,23,25], the striatum is now functionally linked with motor cortical regions. (C) On Day 2 of testing, the network starts to show a decrease in connectivity between the striatum, cerebellum and motor-related structures. (D) Finally, the results reveal that at the end of learning when subjects have reached asymptotic performance, the regions that show sustained co-activations are limited to the cortico-cerebellar system.

Although still conjectural in humans, it is widely accepted that, during learning and immediately after, physiological and structural synaptic changes take place in the nervous system in order for the memory trace to persist and be consolidated [26,27]. After learning, memories are created by alterations in glutamate dependent excitatory synaptic transmission, which stabilizes over hours and days. During this time, experience-dependent gene expression, protein synthesis, as well as early structural changes in synaptic morphology occurring either consequent to protein synthesis or in parallel with it, are also thought to lead to long-lasting changes in synaptic efficacy, i.e., cellular consolidation [26,74]. Although these processes have mostly been described with respect to limbicdependent forms of memory, this notion appears also viable for memories related to the motor system, as recent animal studies suggest that motor skill learning depends on de novo synthesis of proteins in motor cortex after training [67]. Finally, in addition to these cellular consolidation mechanisms, Dudai [27] has proposed that consolidation also occurs at the "system" level. Most of our knowledge base on "system consolidation" is again related to work involving tasks sensitive to the cortico-hippocampal circuitry [28,72], but there is now evidence that this global consolidation

68

process may also occur for motor sequence learning as well, and that the latter is sleep dependent [110]. Yet, little is known with respect to the neural substrates mediating memory consolidation of motor skills, and of motor sequences particularly, as the nature of the post-training, sleep-related cerebral changes has only been shown in the framework of a sleep-deprivation paradigm [32], or using, in the 12-h re-test session, a paced condition that prevented the full expression of the consolidation mechanism [113].

The few studies that have explored the anatomical underpinnings of motor sequence memory consolidation have all stressed the importance of the basal ganglia in this mnemonic process (see [32] for a different pattern of results revealing sleep-dependent consolidation effects in cortical regions only). For example, using a reactivation paradigm with PET, Maquet and co-workers [69,82] have shown that several brain areas, including the caudate nucleus, are activated during the acquisition of a probabilistic serial reaction time task, and that these structures are then reactivated during rapid-eye movement (REM) sleep, hence suggesting that the striatum participates in the consolidation of sequential skilled behaviors. Support for this statement also comes from a recent fMRI study carried out in Doyon's laboratory [12], during which young volunteers were assigned to two subgroups; a night/sleep and a day/awake group. Post-training performance on a 5-item finger sequence task was assessed and scanned after a 12-h break that included sleep, or not. As expected, gains in performance were only observed in the night-sleep group, confirming again that the consolidation of motor memory traces underlying sequential behaviors is sleep-dependent. The imaging results demonstrated that both groups started off with increased activity in M1 and the cerebellum during the immediate post-training session. More importantly, however, the Group × Session interaction yielded increased activity located mainly in the sensorimotor region of the putamen, hence suggesting that the latter structure contributes to the consolidation process. Finally, Albouy et al. [4] have also reported findings consistent with the striatal hypothesis using an implicit oculomotor (instead of fingers) sequence learning paradigm and fMRI in young subjects. Subjects were scanned both during initial training and at specific post-training delays: 30 min, 5 h or 24 h (the latter delay including a night of normal sleep). Consistent with their predictions, the results during the training phase revealed an increase in BOLD signal, not only in the ventral striatum, but in the hippocampus as well. Interestingly, the levels of activity within these two structures conditioned the memory consolidation process, as subsequent delayed gains in performance over night (and not over day) were associated with increased activity in the ventral striatum and hippocampus. Finally, the competitive interaction observed between these two structures during training turned into a cooperation process overnight after the memory trace was consolidated. These results confirm the involvement of the striatum and further highlight the role of the hippocampus during the initial training of a new motor sequence [91]. Altogether, these studies constitute an important step towards understanding the physiological basis of motor memory consolidation, as they stress the possibility that a functional interaction between striatum and hippocampus during post-training sleep is necessary for the consolidation of new sequential actions to occur.

Yet, post-training sleep does not appear to be necessary for the consolidation of all forms of motor sequential behaviors. Studies using an implicit [85,88] or probabilistic learning paradigm [102] have revealed delayed spontaneous increases in performance after the simple passage of daytime, suggesting that time alone may be sufficient to consolidate this type of motor sequential skill. Furthermore, we and others [17] have reported delayed gains in performance after night sleep or day/awake time on MA tasks designed to measure either kinematic (through visual rotations) or dynamic (through force-field) types of abilities. In this case, the cortico-cerebellar system (and not an interaction between the cortico-striatal and hippocampal systems) appears to play a crucial role in the consolidation process of this form of motor skill learning. Indeed, Shadmehr and Holcomb [96] have carried out a PET study, in which subjects were first scanned while being trained to adapt to force field perturbations in a target-reaching task, and again on the same day 5.5 h later while they were performing the same task. A direct comparison of the regional cerebral blood flow levels between these two phases of learning revealed increased activity in the posterior parietal region, PMC and cerebellum, suggesting that the latter structures constitute the neural substrate supporting MA consolidation processes.

In conclusion, the studies reported in this section suggest that interactions between the basal ganglia (striatum) and limbic (hippocampus) systems during sleep may be essential for consolidating memory traces representing newly learned sequences of movements that are known explicitly before practice begins. Yet this functional interplay does not appear to be critical for sequences that have been learned through other cognitive means (e.g., implicit learning). Furthermore, a distinct neural network involving the cerebellum and associated cortical regions is elicited during the consolidation process of other types of motor skilled behaviors, like those necessitating to adapt to changes in sensorimotor mapping that are mostly independent of sleep (see [50] for a different pattern of findings).

7. Automatization of motor skills

To investigate the neural substrates associated with the "automatic" performance of a motor skill, researchers have used one of two main experimental designs: the first uses a dual-task paradigm to determine whether or not a secondary task can be performed with minimal interference on the motor learning (primary) task of interest. The main problem with this approach is that it is difficult, if not impossible, to make sure that performance on a motor skill has become completely automatic after practice in the laboratory (even for a month like in Lehéricy et al., [65]), as there is always residual interference effects on performance of the primary task when subjects are exposed to the dual-task condition. The second design consists of comparing functional and/or anatomical changes seen in individuals with over-learned skills (e.g., playing a musical instrument) to those seen in naive subjects. Using these two approaches, some investigators have reported a general decrease of activity in distributed networks of motor-related structures involving the cortico-basal ganglia and cortico-cerebellar pathways [47,114]. Such findings support the global efficiency hypothesis, which states that during automatic performance individual motor regions are simply functioning more efficiently, and thus require less energy. An alternative interpretation of these data, however, is that this pattern of results is due to the use of a rest period as the baseline control condition, hence rendering difficult to dissociate learning-dependent activity from the simple experience-independent execution of movements [114], or to the use of a between-subjects design, thus increasing variance in the data due to heterogeneity in the two samples [47].

One way to counteract the limitations reported above, and to identify the neural correlates associated with the automatization of a motor skill, would be to scan a group of volunteers using a withinsubject design while they are performing a life long practiced motor skill, and to compare these imaging results to those obtained in the same subjects as they are learning the same motor skill from scratch. Knitting allows such a possibility. Indeed, as a friend of J. Doyon (R. Amsel, an expert knitter) was knitting in the back of his car while driving to a scientific conference close to Kingston, Ontario, Canada, it became apparent that she could simultaneously knit a complicated pattern of stitches and hold an intelligent and fluent conversation with him and other colleagues sitting in the car. However, one interesting fact that is not known by most of us who have not engaged in this type of recreational and creative activity, is that there exist two quite different techniques to knit the exact same stitch: an English and a Continental technique. To look at the brain structures mediating the automatization versus early learning of a motor sequence task in the same subject, we thus conducted an fMRI study while highly skilled knitters (n = 8, male = 0, mean age: 52 years old, range in knitting experience: 14-58 years) performed regular stitches in the scanner without visual feedback. These subjects were scanned in three conditions using a block design, that is: (a) while executing a series of 10 simple stitches with their usual English technique (called "old automatized condition"), (b) when executing the exact same stitches with the new Continental technique (named "newly learned condition") that they learned prior to scanning, and (c) while performing alternating simple movements with the two needles (control condition). The number of movements made was equated across conditions by training subjects to knit one stich/3 s using the new Continental technique. Whole-brain BOLD signal changes were acquired using

70

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75



Fig. 5. Activation maps obtained in the fMRI knitting experiment. (A) Contrast between the "newly learned condition" and the "control condition, (B) contrast between the "old automatized condition" and the "newly learned condition".

a standard single-shot, echo-planar imaging sequence on a 1.5 T magnet. Contrasts between the "newly learned" and "control" conditions revealed increased activity in motor-related structures like the PMC, the putamen/globus pallidus and cerebellum (lobules V and VI) bilaterally, as well as in the right thalamus, anterior cingulum and SMA (see Fig. 5A). By contrast, comparison of the "old automatized" and "control" conditions yielded an increase of activity in the right inferior parietal cortex, the SMA and motor territory of the putamen/globus pallidus regions bilaterally (see Fig. 5B), the latter basal ganglia structure remaining significantly active when BOLD signals in the "newly learned" condition were subtracted from those in the "old automatized" condition (see Fig. 5C). These findings suggest that early learning of a sequential motor task necessitates the contribution of both cortico-cerebellar and cortico-striatal systems, but that after the skill has become fully automatized, the cerebellum is no longer essential, and the long-lasting representation of the skilled behavior now involves the basal ganglia and associated motor cortical regions only.

To parallel the results obtained above in knitters, Doyon et al. have recently completed a study aiming at exploring the underlying brain structures implicated in the automatization of a visuomotor adaptation task. Although we tried to find an ecological MA skill that would be MR-compatible, and for which subjects would show a level of expertise similar to that of knitters, our search was unsuccessful. Consequently, we decided to use a subject-tailored design to determine the amount of training each subject would receive on a target-reaching MA paradigm, and to scan subjects before and after they had reached automatization on the task. In this study, subjects were required to reach one of eight targets using a joystick, where the relationship between movements of the latter and the cursor on a monitor was either inversed (MA condition) or not (control condition). Subjects were introduced to the experimental tasks on Day 1 (baseline performance) and scanned immediately thereafter. Beginning on Day 2, and for as long as they needed, subjects practiced the MA task until they reached automatic performance. Automatization on this motor skill was confirmed through the use of a dual-task paradigm, during which subjects were asked to reach targets while simultaneously identifying high or low pitch sounds. Following several practice sessions (mean = 24.0), subjects reached some level of automatization as their performance on both primary (MA) and secondary (auditory) tasks in the dual condition did not differ significantly to that in the single condition. Once they achieved this criterion, subjects underwent a second fMRI scan identical to the first. The fMRI results (see Fig. 6A) showed that the improvement in performance from the early learning to the automatic execution stage was associated with a decrease in BOLD activity in the striatum, but an increase in the cerebellum and its related cortical structures. In addition, correlation analyses revealed that distinct cerebellar regions are involved in different strategies used to complete the adaptation task, as activity within the anterior cerebellar regions was associated with the subject's speed in executing this automatized skill, whereas the posterior regions was related to the precision with which movements were executed (see Fig. 6B and C).

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75



Fig. 6. Activation maps obtained in the motor adaptation task before and after automatization. (A) Striatal and bilateral cerebellar activations seen, respectively, during the early learning phase and following automatization. (B) Between-subjects regression analyses coupling the average subjects' speed index (SI) and the BOLD signal measured following automatization in the MA task. *Blue crosshair*: left cerebellar lobule IV (-20 - 32 - 28). The scatter plot shows that the brain response at this coordinate was positively correlated with the SI (blue; r = 0.87). *Red crosshair*: right cerebellar lobule IX (12 - 40 - 44). The scatter plot reveals that the brain response at this coordinate was negatively correlated with the SI (red; r = -0.86). C) Between-subjects regression analyses coupling the subjects' average precision index (PI) and the BOLD signal after automatization of the MA task. *Blue crosshair*: right cerebellar Crus I (32 - 64 - 32). The scatter plot shows that the brain response at this coordinate with the PI (blue; r = 0.88). *Red crosshair*: left cerebellar lobule IV (-20 - 32 - 24). The scatter plot shows that the brain response at this coordinate was negatively correlated with the PI (blue; r = 0.91).

8. Motor skill learning: A model

The large number of studies described above have not only helped us to identify the brain systems that contribute differentially to MSL and MA, but have also provided valuable information with regards to the functional dynamic changes that occur within the cortico-striatal, cortico-cerebellar and limbic systems during the different learning stages of a motor skill (e.g., see [20,21,23,25,45, 98] for reviews). To put these results into a plausible neurobiological model, Doyon et al. [23,25] attempted first to propose an integrated view of the functional plasticity that a motor memory trace undergoes, depending on the type of learning (i.e., sequential





Fig. 7. Doyon and et al.'s model [21,23,25] of motor skill learning describing the cerebral plasticity within the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar systems during the course of learning a new sequence of movements (motor sequence learning) or to adapt to environmental perturbations (motor adaptation).

versus kinematic or kinetic adaptation) and the different phases of the acquisition process. Importantly, this model was revisited in 2005 [21] in order to take into account new published evidence of cerebral functional plasticity within the striatum and cerebellum during MSL (e.g., [24,33,65]) and MA [81], as well as new data showing a possible role of the hippocampus in this form of learning [91].

Primarily based upon brain imaging findings, this model also attempts to explain some of the results of other studies in animals and clinical populations. The latter (see Fig. 7) suggests that in the fast encoding phase, both MSL and MA recruit similar cerebral structures: the striatum, cerebellum, motor cortical regions (e.g., PMC, SMA, pre-SMA, anterior cingulate), as well as the prefrontal cortex, parietal cortex and the hippocampus. During this stage, dynamic functional interactions between these systems are thought to be critical for establishing the motor routines necessary to learn the new motor behavior. Furthermore, a shift of motor representation

from the associative to the sensorimotor striatal territory can be seen during MSL, whereas a transfer of activity from the cerebellar cortex to the deep cerebellar nuclei can be observed in the cerebellar nuclei after practice on both MSL and MA tasks. When consolidation has occurred, the subject has achieved asymptotic performance and their performance has become automatic; however, the neural representation of a new motor skill is then believed to be distributed in a network of structures that involves either the cortico-cerebellar or the cortico-striatal circuit, depending on the type of learning acquired. At this stage, Doyon's model suggests that for MA, the striatum is no longer necessary for the retention and execution of the acquired skill; regions representing the skill are now involving the cerebellum and related cortical regions. By contrast, a reverse pattern of plasticity is thought to occur in MSL, such that with extended practice, the cerebellum is no longer essential, and the long-lasting retention of the skill is now believed to involve representational changes in the striatum and associated motor cortical regions. Finally, when a well-learned motor behavior is elicited again, even after a long delay without practice, the model posits that the same cortico-subcortical systems are reactivated. For motor sequence learning skills, it is proposed that the long-term retention of this type of skill is dependent upon activity maintained in the cortico-striatal system, whereas for motor adaptation skills, the long-lasting representation of this form of learning is mediated through the cortico-cerebellar system.

Although such a model of motor learning explains most of the findings found in the motor skill learning literature and some of its inconsistencies, the latter does not offer much about the nature of the cognitive processes that bring about the functional interactions and cause the dissociations seen between the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar systems over the entire course of learning. It does not explain either the specific motor functions under which each of these systems (in link with the hippocampus in some cases) operates while a new procedural skill is being acquired. These sorts of issues have been addressed, however, in other models of the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar functions in motor control and learning. First, Hikosaka et al. [48] have advocated that two representations of a motor sequence (spatial, motor) is acquired during learning, and that each representation relies critically on two sets of cortico-basal ganglia and cortico-cerebellar circuits independently; the fronto-parietal cortices forming a loop with the associative regions of the basal ganglia and cerebellum being implicated in the spatial representation of the sequence, while the motor cortical regions forming a second circuit with the motor-related areas within those same structures being important for the motor representation of that sequence. The "spatial sequence" representation is thought to be effector-unspecific, processed explicitly, acquired rapidly and very demanding with regards to subjects' attentional resources. By contrast, the "motor sequence" representation is believed to be effector-specific, processed implicitly, acquired slowly, and less demanding with respect to attentional resources. Second, using a computational viewpoint, Shadmehr and Krakauer [98] have recently proposed a functional dissociation between the basal ganglia and cerebellum; the former being implicated in optimal control of movements, that is in learning the costs (effort needed) and rewards associated with the execution of a motor skill, and the latter being important for predicting the sensory consequences of motor commands through the establishment of internal models. Finally, Doya [18] has suggested that motor learning in the cortico-striatal and cortico-cerebellar loops is guided through reward and error signals. His view, based on computational theories, proposes that the basal ganglia are critical for "reinforcement learning", which would be guided by the reward signal encoded in the midbrain dopaminergic neurons from the substantia nigra, while the cerebellum plays a crucial role in "supervised learning", which would be modulated by the error signal processed in the climbing fibers arising from the inferior olive. Yet, even if more enlightening from a functional and cognitive perspective, the different concepts advanced in these models cannot easily be generalized to the motor skill learning domain at large, as they appear to be applicable mostly to one form of motor skill, MSL or MA, but not to both. Consequently, we believe that much more experimental and theoretical work will be needed before one can be in a position to conceive a comprehensive behavioral/neuroanatomical model capable of explaining the multitude of behavioral, physiological and imaging findings observed across the several stages of learning and types of motor skilled behaviors.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank VA Nguyen for his technical assistance in preparing the manuscript. This work was supported, in part, by grants from the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and from the "Ministère du Développement Économique, de l'Innovation et de l'Exportation (MDEIE) to J. Doyon and colleagues.

References

- Afifi AK. The basal ganglia: a neural network with more than motor function. Semin Pediatr Neurol 2003;10:3–10.
- [2] Agostino R, Sanes JN, Hallett M. Motor skill learning in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci 1996;139:218–26.
- [3] Albouy G, Ruby P, Phillips C, Luxen A, Peigneux P, Maquet P. Implicit oculomotor sequence learning in humans: time course of offline processing. Brain Res 2006;1090:163–71.
- [4] Albouy G, Sterpenich V, Balteau E, Vandewalle G, Desseilles M, ng-Vu T, et al. Both the hippocampus and striatum are involved in consolidation of motor sequence memory. Neuron 2008;58:261–72.
- [5] Balas M, Netser S, Giladi N, Karni A. Interference to consolidation phase gains in learning a novel movement sequence by handwriting: dependence on laterality and the level of experience with the written sequence. Exp Brain Res 2007;180:237–46.
- [6] Bapi RS, Miyapuram KP, Graydon FX, Doya K. fMRI investigation of cortical and subcortical networks in the learning of abstract and effector-specific representations of motor sequences. Neuroimage 2006;32:714–27.
- [7] Bellec P, Perlbarg V, Jbabdi S, Pelegrini-Issac M, Anton JL, Doyon J, et al. Identification of large-scale networks in the brain using fMRI. Neuroimage 2006;29:1231–43.
- [8] Boecker H, Jankowski J, Ditter P, Scheef L. A role of the basal ganglia and midbrain nuclei for initiation of motor sequences. Neuroimage 2008;39:1356–69.
- [9] Cunnington R, Windischberger C, Deecke L, Moser E. The preparation and execution of self-initiated and externally-triggered movement: a study of event-related fMRI. Neuroimage 2002;15:373–85.
- [10] Cunnington R, Windischberger C, Deecke L, Moser E. The preparation and readiness for voluntary movement: a high-field event-related fMRI study of the Bereitschafts-BOLD response. Neuroimage 2003;20:404–12.
- [11] Cunnington R, Windischberger C, Moser E. Premovement activity of the pre-supplementary motor area and the readiness for action: studies of timeresolved event-related functional MRI. Hum Mov Sci 2005;24:644–56.
- [12] Debas K, Carrier J, Orban P. Striatal contribution to sleep-dependent motor consolidation. Neuroimage (Suppl) 2008;41:S69.
- [13] DeCoteau WE, Thorn C, Gibson DJ, Courtemanche R, Mitra P, Kubota Y, et al. Learning-related coordination of striatal and hippocampal theta rhythms during acquisition of a procedural maze task. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:5644–9.
- [14] Della-Maggiore V, McIntosh AR. Time course of changes in brain activity and functional connectivity associated with long-term adaptation to a rotational transformation. J Neurophysiol 2005;93:2254–62.
- [15] DeLong MR, Wichmann T. Circuits and circuit disorders of the basal ganglia. Arch Neurol 2007;64:20–4.
- [16] Diedrichsen J, Hashambhoy Y, Rane T, Shadmehr R. Neural correlates of reach errors. J Neurosci 2005;25:9919–31.
- [17] Donchin O, Sawaki L, Madupu G, Cohen LG, Shadmehr R. Mechanisms influencing acquisition and recall of motor memories. J Neurophysiol 2002;88:2114–23.
- [18] Doya K. Complementary roles of basal ganglia and cerebellum in learning and motor control. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2000;10:732–9.
- [19] Doyon J. Skill learning. Int Rev Neurobiol 1997;41:273–94.
 [20] Doyon J. Motor sequence learning and movement disorders. Curr Opin Neurol 2008:21:478–83.
- [21] Doyon J, Benali H. Reorganization and plasticity in the adult brain during learning of motor skills. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2005;15:161-7.
- [22] Doyon J, Owen AM, Petrides M, Sziklas V, Evans AC. Functional anatomy of visuomotor skill learning in human subjects examined with positron emission tomography. Eur J Neurosci 1996;8:637–48.
- [23] Doyon J, Penhune V, Ungerleider LG. Distinct contribution of the corticostriatal and cortico-cerebellar systems to motor skill learning. Neuropsychologia 2003;41:252–62.
- [24] Doyon J, Song AW, Karni A, Lalonde F, Adams MM, Ungerleider LG. Experiencedependent changes in cerebellar contributions to motor sequence learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:1017–22.
- [25] Doyon J, Ungerleider LG. Functional anatomy of motor skill learning. In: Squire LR, Schacter DL, editors. Neuropsychology of memory. 2002. p. 225–38.
- [26] Dudai Y. The neurobiology of consolidations, or, how stable is the engram? Annu Rev Psychol 2004;55:51–86.
- [27] Dudai Y. Reconsolidation: the advantage of being refocused. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2006;16:174–8.
- [28] Dudai Y, Morris RGM. To consolidate or not to consolidate: what are the questions? In: Bulhuis JJ, editor. Brain, perception, memory. Advances in cognitive sciences. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000. p. 149–62.
- [29] Duff E, Xiong J, Wang B, Cunnington R, Fox P, Egan G. Complex spatiotemporal dynamics of fMRI BOLD: a study of motor learning. Neuroimage 2007;34:156–68.
- [30] Elsinger CL, Harrington DL, Rao SM. From preparation to online control: reappraisal of neural circuitry mediating internally generated and externally guided actions. Neuroimage 2006;31:1177–87.

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75

- [31] Fischer S, Hallschmid M, Elsner AL, Born J. Sleep forms memory for finger skills. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:11987-91.
- [32] Fischer S, Nitschke MF, Melchert UH, Erdmann C, Born J. Motor memory consolidation in sleep shapes more effective neuronal representations. J Neurosci 2005;25:11248-55.
- [33] Floyer-Lea A, Matthews PM. Changing brain networks for visuomotor control with increased movement automaticity. J Neurophysiol 2004;92:2405-12.
- [34] Floyer-Lea A, Matthews PM. Distinguishable brain activation networks for short- and long-term motor skill learning. J Neurophysiol 2005;94:512-8.
- [35] Friston KJ, Frith CD, Passingham RE, Liddle PF, Frackowiak RS. Motor practice and neurophysiological adaptation in the cerebellum: a positron tomography study. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1992;248:223–8.
- [36] Gabrieli JD, Stebbins GT, Singh J, Willingham DB, Goetz CG. Intact mirror-tracing and impaired rotary-pursuit skill learning in patients with Huntington's disease: evidence for dissociable memory systems in skill learning. Neuropsychology 1997;11:272-81.
- [37] Gerardin E, Pochon JB, Poline JB, Tremblay L, Van de Moortele PF, Levy R, et al. Distinct striatal regions support movement selection, preparation and execution. Neuroreport 2004;15:2327-31.
- [38] Grafton ST, Hamilton AF. Evidence for a distributed hierarchy of action representation in the brain. Hum Mov Sci 2007;26:590-616.
- [39] Grafton ST, Hazeltine E, Ivry R. Functional mapping of sequence learning in normal humans. J Cogn Neurosci 1995;7:497–510.
- [40] Grafton ST, Hazeltine E, Ivry RB. Abstract and effector-specific representations of motor sequences identified with PET. J Neurosci 1998;18:9420-8.
- [41] Grafton ST, Mazziotta JC, Presty S, Friston KJ, Frackowiak RS, Phelps ME. Functional anatomy of human procedural learning determined with regional cerebral blood flow and PET. J Neurosci 1992;12:2542-8.
- [42] Grafton ST, Woods RP, Mike T. Functional imaging of procedural motor learning: relating cerebral blood flow with individual subject performance. Hum Brain Mapp 1994;1:221-34.
- [43] Graybiel AM. Habits, rituals, and the evaluative brain. Annu Rev Neurosci 2008;31:359-87.
- [44] Graydon FX, Friston KJ, Thomas CG, Brooks VB, Menon RS. Learning-related fMRI activation associated with a rotational visuo-motor transformation. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 2005;22:373–83.
- [45] Halsband U, Lange RK. Motor learning in man: a review of functional and clinical studies. J Physiol Paris 2006;99:414-24.
- [46] Harms MP, Melcher JR. Sound repetition rate in the human auditory pathway: representations in the waveshape and amplitude of fMRI activation. J Neurophysiol 2002;88:1433-50.
- [47] Haslinger B, Erhard P, Altenmuller E, Hennenlotter A, Schwaiger M, Grafin vE. et al. Reduced recruitment of motor association areas during bimanual coordination in concert pianists. Hum Brain Mapp 2004;22:206–15.
- [48] Hikosaka O, Nakamura K, Sakai K, Nakahara H. Central mechanisms of motor skill learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2002;12:217-22.
- [49] Hotermans C, Peigneux P, Maertens de Noordhout A, Moonen G, Maquet P. Early boost and slow consolidation in motor skill learning. Learn Mem 2006;13:580-3.
- [50] Huber R, Ghilardi MF, Massimini M, Tononi G. Local sleep and learning. Nature 2004;430:78-81.
- [51] Imamizu H, Kuroda T, Miyauchi S, Yoshioka T, Kawato M. Modular organization of internal models of tools in the human cerebellum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003:100:5461-6.
- [52] Imamizu H, Miyauchi S, Tamada T, Sasaki Y, Takino R, Putz B. et al. Human cerebellar activity reflecting an acquired internal model of a new tool. Nature 2000;403:192-5.
- [53] Jenkins IH, Brooks DJ, Nixon PD, Frackowiak RS, Passingham RE. Motor sequence learning: a study with positron emission tomography. J Neurosci 1994:14:3775-90.
- [54] Jueptner M, Frith CD, Brooks DJ, Frackowiak RS, Passingham RE. Anatomy of motor learning. II. Subcortical structures and learning by trial and error. I Neurophysiol 1997;77:1325-37.
- [55] Jueptner M, Stephan KM, Frith CD, Brooks DJ, Frackowiak RS, Passingham RE. Anatomy of motor learning. I. Frontal cortex and attention to action. J Neurophysiol 1997;77:1313-24.
- Karni A, Meyer G, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, Ungerleider LG. Functional [56] MRI evidence for adult motor cortex plasticity during motor skill learning. Nature 1995;377:155-8.
- [57] Karni A, Meyer G, Rey-Hipolito C, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, et al. The acquisition of skilled motor performance: fast and slow experience-driven changes in primary motor cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:861-8.
- [58] Karni A, Sagi D. The time course of learning a visual skill. Nature 1993:365:250-2.
- [59] Kelly RM, Strick PL. Cerebellar loops with motor cortex and prefrontal cortex of a nonhuman primate. J Neurosci 2003;23:8432-44.
- [60] Korman M, Doyon J, Doljansky J, Carrier J, Dagan Y, Karni A. Daytime sleep condenses the time course of motor memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci 2007;10:1206-13.
- [61] Krakauer JW, Shadmehr R. Towards a computational neuropsychology of action. Prog Brain Res 2007;165:383-94.
- [62] Krebs HI, Brashers-Krug T, Rauch SL, Savage CR, Hogan N, Rubin RH, et al. Robot-aided functional imaging: application to a motor learning study. Hum Brain Mapp 1998;6:59–72.
- [63] Krebs HI, Hogan N, Hening W, Adamovich SV, Poizner H. Procedural motor learning in Parkinson's disease. Exp Brain Res 2001;141:425-37.

- [64] Laforce RJ, Doyon J. Distinct contribution of the striatum and cerebellum to motor learning. Brain Cogn 2001;45:189-211.
- [65] Lehericy S, Benali H, van de Moortele PF, Pelegrini-Issac M, Waechter T, Ugurbil K, et al. Distinct basal ganglia territories are engaged in early and advanced motor sequence learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:12566–71.
- [66] Lehericy S, Ducros M, Krainik A, Francois C, van de Moortele PF, Ugurbil K, et al. 3-D diffusion tensor axonal tracking shows distinct SMA and pre-SMA projections to the human striatum. Cereb Cortex 2004;14:1302-9.
- [67] Luft AR, Buitrago MM. Stages of motor skill learning. Mol Neurobiol 2005;32: 205-16.
- [68] Maquet P. The role of sleep in learning and memory. Science 2001;294: 1048-52
- [69] Maquet P, Laureys S, Peigneux P, Fuchs S, Petiau C, Phillips C, et al. Experiencedependent changes in cerebral activation during human REM sleep. Nat Neurosci 2000:3:831-6.
- [70] Marrelec G, Bellec P, Benali H. Exploring large-scale brain networks in functional MRI. | Physiol Paris 2006;100:171-81.
- [71] Martin TA, Keating JG, Goodkin HP, Bastian AJ, Thach WT. Throwing while looking through prisms. II. Specificity and storage of multiple gaze-throw calibrations. Brain 1996;119(Pt 4):1199-211.
- [72] McClelland JL, McNaughton BL, O'Reilly RC. Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: insights from the suc cesses and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. Psychol Rev 1995;102:419-57.
- [73] McDonald RJ, White NM. A triple dissociation of memory systems: hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal striatum. Behav Neurosci 1993;107:3-22
- [74] McGaugh JL. Memory-a century of consolidation. Science 2000;287:248-51.
- [75] Milner B. Les troubles de la memoire accompagnant des lesions hip-pocampiques bilaterales. In: Physiologie de l'Hippocampe; 1962. p. 257–272.
 [76] Miyachi S, Hikosaka O, Miyashita K, Karadi Z, Rand MK. Differential roles of
- monkey striatum in learning of sequential hand movement. Exp Brain Res 1997:115:1-5.
- [77] Miyachi S, Lu X, Imanishi M, Sawada K, Nambu A, Takada M, et al. Somatotopically arranged inputs from putamen and subthalamic nucleus to primary motor cortex. Neurosci Res 2006;56:300-8.
- [78] Monchi O, Petrides M, Mejia-Constain B, Strafella AP. Cortical activity in Parkinson's disease during executive processing depends on striatal involvement. Brain 2007;130:233-44.
- [79] Monchi O, Petrides M, Strafella AP, Worsley KJ, Doyon J. Functional role of the basal ganglia in the planning and execution of actions. Ann Neurol 2006;59:257-64.
- [80] Morin A, Doyon J, Dostie V, Barakat M, Hadj TA, Korman M, et al. Motor sequence learning increases sleep spindles and fast frequencies in posttraining sleep. Sleep 2008;31:1149-56.
- Nezafat R, Shadmehr R, Holcomb HH. Long-term adaptation to dynamics of reaching movements: a PET study. Exp Brain Res 2001;140:66-76
- [82] Peigneux P, Laureys S, Fuchs S, Destrebecqz A, Collette F, Delbeuck X, et al. Learned material content and acquisition level modulate cerebral reactivation during posttraining rapid-eye-movements sleep. Neuroimage 2003;20:125-34.
- [83] Penhune VB, Doyon J. Dynamic cortical and subcortical networks in learning and delayed recall of timed motor sequences. J Neurosci 2002;22:1397-406.
- [84] Poldrack RA, Clark J, Pare-Blagoev EJ, Shohamy D, Creso MJ, Myers C, et al. Interactive memory systems in the human brain. Nature 2001;414:546–50.
- [85] Press DZ, Casement MD, Pascual-Leone A, Robertson EM, The time course of off-line motor sequence learning. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 2005;25: 375-8.
- [86] Rauch SL, Savage CR, Brown HD, Curran T, Alpert NM, Kendrick A, et al. A PET investigation of implicit and explicit sequence learning. Hum Brain Mapp 1995:3:271-86.
- Rauch SL, Whalen PJ, Savage CR, Curran T, Kendrick A, Brown HD, et al. Stri-atal recruitment during an implicit sequence learning task as measured by [87] functional magnetic resonance imaging. Hum Brain Mapp 1997;5:124-32.
- [88] Robertson EM, Pascual-Leone A, Press DZ. Awareness modifies the skilllearning benefits of sleep. Curr Biol 2004;14:208-12.
- [89] Sakai K, Hikosaka O, Miyauchi S, Takino R, Sasaki Y, Putz B. Transition of brain activation from frontal to parietal areas in visuomotor sequence learning. J Neurosci 1998:18:1827-40.
- [90] Sanes JN, Dimitrov B, Hallett M. Motor learning in patients with cerebellar dysfunction. Brain 1990;113:103-20.
- Schendan HE, Searl MM, Melrose RJ, Stern CE. An FMRI study of the role of [91] the medial temporal lobe in implicit and explicit sequence learning. Neuron 2003:37:1013-25
- [92] Schlaug G, Knorr U, Seitz R. Inter-subject variability of cerebral activations in acquiring a motor skill: a study with positron emission tomography. Exp Brain Res 1994;98:523-34.
- [93] Seidler RD, Purushotham A, Kim SG, Ugurbil K, Willingham D, Ashe J. Cerebellum activation associated with performance change but not motor learning. Science 2002;296:2043-6.
- [94] Seitz RJ, Canavan AG, Yaguez L, Herzog H, Tellmann L, Knorr U, et al. Successive roles of the cerebellum and premotor cortices in trajectorial learning. Neuroreport 1994;5:2541-4.
- [95] Seitz RJ, Roland E, Bohm C, Greitz T, Stone-Elander S. Motor learning in man: a positron emission tomographic study. Neuroreport 1990;1:57-60
- [96] Shadmehr R, Holcomb HH. Neural correlates of motor memory consolidation. Science 1997;277:821-5.

J. Doyon et al. / Behavioural Brain Research 199 (2009) 61-75

- [97] Shadmehr R, Holcomb HH. Inhibitory control of competing motor memories. Exp Brain Res 1999;126:235–51.
- [98] Shadmehr R, Krakauer JW. A computational neuroanatomy for motor control. Exp Brain Res 2008;185:359–81.
- [99] Shadmehr R, Mussa-Ivaldi FA. Adaptive representation of dynamics during learning of a motor task. J Neurosci 1994;14:3208–24.
- [100] Smith MA, Brandt J, Shadmehr R. Motor disorder in Huntington's disease begins as a dysfunction in error feedback control. Nature 2000;403: 544-9.
- [101] Smith MA, Shadmehr R. Intact ability to learn internal models of arm dynamics in Huntington's disease but not cerebellar degeneration. J Neurophysiol 2005;93:2809–21.
- [102] Song S, Howard Jr JH, Howard DV. Sleep does not benefit probabilistic motor sequence learning. J Neurosci 2007;27:12475–83.
- [103] Tamas KZ, Johansen-Berg H, Tomassini V, Bosnell R, Matthews PM, Beckmann CF. Model-free characterization of brain functional networks for motor sequence learning using fMRI. Neuroimage 2008;39:1950–8.
- [104] Thach WT. On the mechanism of cerebellar contributions to cognition. Cerebellum 2007;6:163–7.
- [105] Thach WT, Goodkin HP, Keating JG. The cerebellum and the adaptive coordination of movement. Annu Rev Neurosci 1992;15:403–42.

- [106] Toni I, Krams M, Turner R, Passingham RE. The time course of changes during motor sequence learning: a whole-brain fMRI study. Neuroimage 1998;8:50–61.
- [107] Toni I, Rowe J, Stephan KE, Passingham RE. Changes of cortico-striatal effective connectivity during visuomotor learning. Cereb Cortex 2002;12:1040–7.
- [108] Tseng YW, Diedrichsen J, Krakauer JW, Shadmehr R, Bastian AJ. Sensory prediction errors drive cerebellum-dependent adaptation of reaching. J Neurophysiol 2007;98:54–62.
- [109] Van Mier H. Human learning. In: Toga AW, Mazziotta JC, editors. Brain mapping: the systems. 2000. p. 605–20.
- [110] Walker MP. A refined model of sleep and the time course of memory formation. Behav Brain Sci 2005;28:51–64.
- [111] Walker MP, Brakefield T, Morgan A, Hobson JA, Stickgold R. Practice with sleep makes perfect: sleep-dependent motor skill learning. Neuron 2002;35: 205–11.
- [112] Walker MP, Stickgold R. Sleep, memory, and plasticity. Annu Rev Psychol 2006;57:139–66.
- [113] Walker MP, Stickgold R, Alsop D, Gaab N, Schlaug G. Sleep-dependent motor memory plasticity in the human brain. Neuroscience 2005;133:911–7.
- [114] Wu T, Kansaku K, Hallett M. How self-initiated memorized movements become automatic: a functional MRI study. J Neurophysiol 2004;91:1690–8.